## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF **Electronically Filed READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,** May 31 2019 05:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court v. EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS Supreme Court Case No.: 75053 McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, Dist. Court Case No.: A-15-719860-B JUDY CODDING, AND MICHAEL WROTNIAK, READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., A NEVADA Related to Cases: 72261, 72356, 74759 CORPORATION, Consolidated for purposes of Respondents, disposition with Cases 76981, 77648, 77333

# OPENING BRIEF OF READING INTERNATIONAL, INC. FOR CASE NO. 77733

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This appeal is the final request for appellate review in a case that spawned more than a half a dozen such requests. The resources of this Court, and those of the court below, have thus been burdened by a lawsuit that, viewed objectively, can only be explained as having been brought for purposes of harassment and revenge by Caser No 77733 Respondent James J. Cotter, Jr. ("Cotter, Jr."), after his scheme to hold onto his position as CEO of RDI fell apart. Cotter, Jr. abused his fiduciary obligations as a derivative plaintiff to pursue his own personal agenda and in so doing impose millions of dollars of legal fees on the very Company and stockholder's whose interests he was obligated to protect. Indeed, during the course of the litigation, Cotter, Jr., dropped all pretense of seeking any monetary damages for the benefit of the Company or its stockholders or vindicating any of the rights, preferences or privileges of the stockholders, and instead sought only his personal reinstatement as RDI's President and CEO. Nevada's courts should not countenance such misuse of shareholder derivative actions.

This litigation was filed on the same day that Cotter, Jr., was terminated as President and CEO of the Company by a vote of the Company's directors.

1

Originally, Cotter Jr. brought this action as both an individual and a derivative suit, and he attempted to sidestep the demand requirement for derivative actions by naming as defendants all of the member of the Board--- even the two directors who had voted *against* his termination, and when new independent directors were appointed to the Board , by naming them as well. The suit was ultimately decided against Cotter, Jr., through summary judgment, including summary judgment granted because he failed to establish that Directors Codding, Kane, Gould, McEachern, or Wrotniak lacked independence.<sup>1</sup>

Cotter, Jr. challenged an assortment of corporate management decisions, including his termination, and claimed that that these decisions, *none* of which created any limitations on, or indeed, even related to, shareholder voting rights, were "entrenchment" measures. For the next three years, masquerading as a derivative plaintiff,<sup>2</sup> Cotter Jr. continued his campaign of terror against the Company, whose rights he was supposed to be vindicating, constantly demanding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Following this determination of independence, summary judgment was entered in favor of all defendants based on the fact that all of the matters contested by Cotter, Jr., were either originally approved or ratified by these independent directors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In Case No. 753053, wherein RDI is a Respondent, RDI noted in its Answering Brief that the absence of demand futility resulted in a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. However, while such lack of jurisdiction is further evidence that the litigation here was brought and maintained without reasonable grounds, this Court is not deprived of jurisdiction over collateral issues, such as the award of attorney's fees. *Emerson v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 127 Nev. 672, 677-79, 263 P.3d 224, 227-29 (2011).

more and more discovery, and putting off the trial. He also ignored the multiple indications that his claims had no merits, including his *own* testimony acknowledging the independence of two of the Director Defendants, the withdrawal of the intervenor suit that had been filed based on his allegations, and the clarification of Nevada law regarding the business judgment rule that removed any conceivable argument that the burden shifting test of "entire fairness" applied in Nevada. Even the grant of summary judgment to five of the Director Defendants gave him no pause; to the contrary, he doubled down on his claims, saying, *without any reasonable basis*, that the subsequent ratification of the few remaining challenged actions must be invalid, and demanding a discovery fishing expedition in hopes of proving it. Significantly, throughout this time, Cotter, Jr. was not an outside shareholder pursuing discovery to obtain information he did not have. Instead, Cotter, Jr was a director of the Company for the entirety of the time the litigation was proceeding below.

In short, this Court would be hard put to find any evidence in this record that indicates that Cotter, Jr. was *ever* motivated by a desire to vindicate the rights of the RDI or its stockholders. To the contrary, the record shows that Cotter, Jr. did not even intend to present evidence of any purported harm suffered by RDI, as he acknowledged that he did not intend to call any damages experts to testify at trial.

RDI was forced to incur more than \$15,000,000 in attorney's fees, both in defense of itself, and due to its statutory and contractual indemnity obligations, in defense of the Director Defendants against Cotter, Jr.'s claims. A derivative plaintiff who truly has the best interests of the corporation at heart would desire a speedy resolution of the claims, both to limit the disruption to company management posed by the litigation, and to limit the costs to the company, which must not only defend itself, but also has an obligation to bear the cost of defense for the board members defendants. Indeed, due to the extraordinary nature of derivative suits, which seize litigation decisions from the company's chosen management and place them in the hands of a single stockholder, a derivative plaintiff bears a fiduciary duty to prosecute the case fairly, and in a manner intended to benefit the corporation. Cotter, Jr. did not fulfill that duty, but instead, persisted in maintaining claims that were groundless, and even prolonged the litigation, seeking constant delays in the trial for assorted reasons, many of which proved highly suspect.

Derivative cases sound in equity. As matter of equity, the "reasonable grounds" purporting to justify a derivative action should be judged in the context of both the plaintiff's fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the corporation and the specific proof standards necessary to for a derivative plaintiff to prevail on claims for breach of fiduciary duty against a company's directors. RDI and its

stockholders should not be required to bear the burden of attorney's fees for the claims brought by Cotter without reasonable grounds, and/or for the purpose of harassing RDI or its directors. Accordingly, Cotter, Jr.'s actions warranted an award of fees pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b), and the District Court abused its discretion in denying that request.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellate jurisdiction is proper pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(8), as this is an appeal of an order denying a Motion for Attorneys' Fees, and of the denial of a Motion to Enter Judgment in Favor of Reading, Inc.; therefore, it is an appeal of special orders entered after final judgment. The Orders were both entered on November 16, 2018, and notices of the entry of the two orders were entered on November 20, 2018. **VIII RDI-A 10778-10798.** <sup>3</sup> The Notice of Appeal was filed on December 14, 2018. **VIII RDI-A 10799.** 

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(9), this matter, which originated in business court, falls within the presumptive assignment of the Supreme Court. Accordingly, pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(10), it is appropriate for the Nevada Supreme Court to retain this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because of the existence of multiple appendices among the consolidated appeals, the appendix here will be referred to as [Vol.#] RDI-A [page #].

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING ATTORNEY'S FEES AS COTTER, JR. BROUGHT CLAIMS WITHOUT REASONABLE GROUNDS.
- II. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING ATTORNEY'S FEES AS COTTER, JR. MAINTAINED CLAIMS DESPITE THEIR APPARENT GROUNDLESSNESS
- **III.** THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GRANT JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RDI.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the underlying action, Respondent Cotter, Jr. brought three claims of breach of fiduciary duty against all Director Defendants, and one claim of aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against Ellen and Margaret Cotter. I **RDI-A 1.** He sought also injunctive relief that, if granted, would have imposed obligations on RDI itself, rather than just on the Director Defendants. I **RDI-A 30-30.** During the litigation, RDI at all times acted as a party defendant, including filing dispositive motions and answers, participating in discovery, and seeking dispositive relief. I **RDI-A 205.** Summary judgment on all claims was granted in favor of Director Defendants Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern, and Wrotniak on December 28, 2017, and certified under NRCP 54(b) on January 4, 2018. **VII RDI-A 9595-9601, 9611.** That decision has been appealed in Case No 75053. Summary Judgment on all claims was granted in favor of the remaining Director

Defendants Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams on August 14, 2018,

with notice of entry on August 16, 2018. VII RDI-A 10542-10552N. That decision has been appealed in Case No. 76981. No judgment was entered in favor of or against RDI. Id. RDI and the Director Defendants sought and were awarded their costs, and that decision has been appealed in Case No. 77648. VIII RDI-A 10774A.

RDI also moved for attorneys' fees, and moved for entry of judgment in its favor, with the Director Defendants joining. VIII RDI-A 10642-10751. The District Court denied both motions and RDI appealed these decisions, in this matter, Case No. 77733. VIII RDI-A 10799. This Court consolidated these four appeals for purposes of disposition in an order dated April 18, 2019.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS**

#### General Background

RDI is a publicly traded but controlled corporation, principally focused on the development, ownership, and operation of real estate and entertainment assets in the U.S., Australia and New Zealand. I RDI-A 8, ¶ 15. It has two classes of stock, Class A non-voting stock and Class B voting stock. I RDI-A 6,¶ 7. For many years, a controlling majority of RDI's voting stock was owned by James J. Cotter, Sr. ("Cotter, Sr."), who served as RDI's CEO and Chairman of the Board. I RDI-A 8, 539.

In August 2014, Cotter, Sr. resigned his positions for medical ACTIVE 43734861v1

reasons. **I RDI-A 539, II RDI-A 3796.** At that time, in addition to Cotter, Sr., RDI's Board of Directors had eight other members:

- Ellen Cotter, eldest child of Cotter, Sr. and Mary Cotter, who had served as a director since March 2013, had been an RDI employee since 1998, and controlled the day-to-day operations of the Company's domestic cinema operations;
- Margaret Cotter, second child of Cotter, Sr. and Mary Cotter, who had served as a director since 2002, and, as an outside consultant, managed RDI's live theater division, supervised certain live theater real estate, and was responsible for redevelopment work on RDI's Manhattan theater properties;
- James J. Cotter, Jr., youngest child of Cotter, Sr. and Mary Cotter, who had served as a Director since 2002, and had been an employee of the Company for approximately one year;
- Edward Kane, who had served as a director from 1985-1998, and October 2004 forward, and was Chair of the Tax Oversight and the Compensation and Stock Option Committees;
- Guy Adams, who had served as a director since January 2014 and was a registered investment advisor and experienced independent director on public company boards;

- Douglas McEachern, who had served as a director since May 2012 and was an audit partner at Deloitte & Touche from 1985-2009;
- Timothy Storey, who had served as a director since December 2011 and was Chairman of a New Zealand-based investment fund specializing in commercial property; and
- The late William Gould, who served as a director from October 2004 until his death in the fall of 2018, and who had been a renowned expert on corporate governance issues.<sup>4</sup>

**I RDI-A 554-555.** All of these individuals were well known to Cotter, Jr., who had in each case voted for either their initial appointment to the board or their subsequent nomination for re-election to the Board. \*\*

Upon Cotter, Sr.'s sudden resignation in August 2014, the RDI Board, faced with an emergency vacancy, and given to understand that this was consistent with Cotter, Sr.'s wishes, appointed Cotter, Jr. as CEO, in the hope that Cotter, Jr. would grow into the job. I RDI-A 555-556. Cotter, Sr. died several weeks later. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Wynn Resorts v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 399 P.3d 334, 343 (2017) (quoting Mr. Gould's treatise regarding Nevada's business judgment rule).

#### **Cotter, Sr.'s Estate Plans**

Cotter, Sr.'s estate planning had included the James J. Cotter, Sr. Living Trust, (the "Trust"), which owned much of the RDI stock, including RDI Class B Voting stock, controlled by Cotter, Sr. **II RDI-A 3796.** The Trust provided that following Cotter, Sr.'s death, all of RDI's Class B voting stock would be moved into a separate voting trust (the "Voting Trust) for the benefit of Cotter, Sr.'s grandchildren. At the time of his death, Cotter, Sr. also owned a significant amount of RDI's voting stock that had not been transferred into the Trust, but which, under the terms of his Will would eventually be transferred to the Voting Trust. *Id.* Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter were appointed co-executors of Cotter, Sr.'s Estate (the "Estate").<sup>5</sup> *Id.* 

When Cotter, Sr. had been hospitalized in the summer of Cotter, Jr. had an amendment to the Trust drafted ("Hospital Amendment"), and used undue influence to persuade his father to execute the same. **VIII RDI-A 10658-16859.** Through that amendment Cotter, Jr. attempted, *inter alia*, to materially alter the administration of the Trust and the Voting Trust, and to put himself in a position to control RDI. He did this by adding himself as a trustee of the Trust (prior to the Hospital Amendment, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter were the sole trustees) and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Probate Case, filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. P-14-082942-E, was consolidated or coordinated with this matter until August 8, 2018,

as a trustee of the Voting Trust (prior to the Hospital Amendment, Margaret Cotter was the sole trustee) with alternating control of the voting stock held by the Voting Trust. Id. Following Cotter, Sr.'s death, Ellen and Margaret Cotter filed suit in California to have the Hospital Amendment to the Trust declared invalid ("Trust Litigation"), which suit was ultimately successful. Id. Accordingly, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter are now recognized as the sole trustees of the James J. Cotter Living trust and Margaret Cotter is now recognized as the sole trustee for the James J. Cotter Voting Trust. This resulted in the reinstatement of Cotter, Sr.'s original estate plan and the elimination of Cotter, Jr. as a purported trustee of the Trust and of the Voting Trust, and of his claimed right to control RDI. Id. Prior to a decision being reached on the validity of the Hospital Amendment, the Trust's stock was voted based on a majority decision of the three trustees of the Trust. I RDI-A 256:18-257:14.

#### Cotter, Jr's Performance as CEO

Meanwhile, Cotter, Jr. continued in the position as President and CEO, and did an abysmal job. **I RDI-A 553-554.** RDI's Board began discussing "the possibility of getting an interim CEO . . . as early as October 2014" or a management coach. to ameliorate Cotter Jr.'s shortcomings. **I RDI-A 554, 557.** Among Cotter Jr.'s failings were his lack of managerial skills and his display of a violent abusive leadership. **I RDI-A 555.** The Board of Directors saw Cotter Jr.'s

style as closed-door and unengaged and felt that he was reluctant and slow to make decisions. *Id.* RDI employees viewed Cotter Jr. as having a volatile temper and anger management issues. *Id.* Cotter Jr.'s behavior caused several female employees to be fearful of him and concerned for their physical safety to the extent that at least one employee began carrying mace to the office. *Id.* Board members considered sending Cotter Jr. to a psychologist or psychiatrist or to anger management classes in early 2015. *Id.* 

Cotter Jr. also displayed a lack of understanding of RDI's business operations. He could not understand the labor and other cost differences between the US and the Australian and New Zealand cinema industries. **I RDI-A 556**. Director Adams and others also questioned Cotter Jr.'s "knowledge about the business," whether he "properly investigated" claimed issues before bringing them before the Board, and whether he was "really learning the business" and "leading us forward." **I RDI-A 560**. As Director McEachern later admitted, "from August of 2014 until [Cotter, Jr.'s] termination, I cannot tell you one thing that we did that created value for the company, one thing that Jim Cotter, Jr. managed to do. Nothing." *Id*.

Non-Cotter Directors criticized his conduct, both for his duplicity and the wasteful allocation of his time, including apparently deliberate efforts to undermine his sisters, including Ellen, a key executive. **I RDI-A 554.** The tension

that resulted from Cotter Jr.'s actions, as well as the dispute over the Trust, led to the Non-Cotter Directors determining in February 2015 that RDI had a "dysfunctional management team." Moreover, Cotter, Jr. himself recognized his own inadequacies, surreptitiously hiring, at Company expense, a consultant to coach him. I RDI-A 10565. Things got so bad that beginning in March 2015, one independent board member was charged with the duty of acting as an ombudsman. I RDI-A 556. The Non-Cotter directors made clear that if matters did not improve, one or more terminations were likely. *Id.* Cotter, Jr. himself testified that either the tension had to ease or termination(s) would be necessary. *Id.* 

#### Cotter, Jr.'s Termination and the Filing of this Action

By May 2015, multiple board members had had enough, and following a process that progressed through three board meetings over approximately three weeks, Cotter Jr. was terminated. I **RDI-A 557-560**.

The very same day he was terminated, Cotter, Jr. filed this action, which originally included both his own direct claims related to his termination, as well as a purported derivative claim. I **RDI-A 1**. That filing was no surprise, as Cotter, Jr.'s personal counsel threatened to do so at the May 21 meeting, and Cotter, Jr. made repeated threats to various board members personally, stating that if they voted to fire him he would "sue [them] and ruin them financially." I **RDI-A 558**.

Purporting to act as a derivative Plaintiff, Cotter, Jr. alleged two causes of

action for breach of fiduciary duty against all other members of the RDI Board, based on 1) his termination as CEO, and 2) on the Compensation Committee's approval of the Estate's exercise of an option to purchase RDI voting stock, with payment for said exercise being made with an equivalent fair market value of RDI non-voting stock. I RDI-A 1-31. His claims against the non-Cotter directors were premised on the theory that these directors failed to exercise their own business judgment, and instead, voted as directed by Ellen and Margaret Cotter. I RDI-A 3, ¶ 3. In support of this theory, he presented *no* facts as to Directors Gould, McEachern or Storey; as to Kane, he alleged a longstanding friendship between Kane and Cotter, Sr., resulting in the Cotter Sisters calling Director Kane "Uncle Ed"; and as to Adams, the claim that he was dependent on income from contracts with Cotter entities, which Cotter, Jr. claimed put him under the influence of Ellen and Margaret. I RDI-A 6-7 ¶¶10-11. Cotter, Jr. also brought a claim for aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter, based on the purported breaches by the Non-Cotter Directors. I RDI-A 28-29, **¶125-132.** As detailed in RDI's Answering Brief in Appeal 75053, Cotter, Jr. failed to adequately allege demand futility.

#### The First Year of Litigation

After Cotter, Jr.'s Complaint was filed, T2 Partners Management, LLP and other hedge fund stockholders in RDI, (collectively, the "T2 Plaintiffs"), filed a

Complaint in Intervention, which parroted the allegations made by Cotter, Jr. I **RDI-A 69-86.** The intervention was granted, and the T2 Plaintiffs thereafter participated in the litigation until mid- 2016. I RDI-A 65.

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