In The Supreme Court of the State Of Nevada

Supreme Court Co	<i>use No. 75053</i> Electronically Filed Nov 27 2019 09:15 a.m.
JAMES J. COTTER, JR., Individually And Derivatively on Behalf of Reading International, Inc.,	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Petitioner,	
V.) Coordinated with Case) Nos. 76981, 77648, 77333
DOUGLAS McEACHERN, EDWARD)
KANE, JUDY CODDING, MICHAEL)
WROTNIAK, MARY ANN GOULD,)
Personal Representative of the Estate of) District Court Case
William Gould, AND Nominal Defendant) No. A-15-719860-B
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,)
a Nevada Corporation,)
)
Respondents.)

Appeal

Eighth Judicial District Court, Dept. XI The Honorable Elizabeth G. Gonzalez

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

At that time, RDI's 1999 Stock Option plan allowed the exercise of options using Class A shares, with the approval of the Compensation Committee, and the Company had a policy of repurchasing Class A shares when they were available.⁴⁵ The Board's Compensation Committee was acting in conformance with and with knowledge of the terms of the Stock Option Plan when evaluating the Estate's option exercise, and the exercise of the Option ultimately had no impact on the election of RDI's Board at the 2015 Annual Shareholder Meeting, as both before and after the exercise, Ellen and Margaret Cotter controlled more than two-thirds

executors") (emphasis added). Moreover, the ownership issue was resolved long ago by the District Court in the context of the separate Estate case; even if it had not been, the ownership question would be fundamentally irrelevant—Ellen and Margaret Cotter control the options under any scenario, as they were both the Co-Executors of the Cotter Estate and the Co-Trustees of the Cotter Estate. XXXIIJA7845.

⁴⁴ OB12; XXIJA5098; XIIJA2871.

⁴⁵ XIIJA2883; IRA88.

of the outstanding RDI voting power.⁴⁶ The value of the Class A Stock tendered by the Estate to purchase the Option also rose from \$1,257,000 at the time of the exercise to \$1,611,000 at the time of the District Court's decision.⁴⁷

III. <u>RDI'S FULL BOARD REVISITS AND RATIFIES THE TWO</u> <u>DECISIONS THAT REMAIN AT ISSUE</u>

A. <u>RDI's Board Decides to Reexamine the Remaining Decisions</u>

Following the entry of the District Court's initial summary judgment ruling in December 2017,⁴⁸ RDI—represented by its counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Show Demand Futility.⁴⁹ RDI's motion argued that because the District Court had now determined that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to the independence or disinterestedness of a majority of RDI's Directors (as the Board was constituted, either at the time of Appellant's initial complaint or his subsequent amendments), Appellant's "derivative" action should be dismissed because he could not meet his burden to show that demand upon the Board would have been futile.⁵⁰

⁴⁶ See id. Every director elected to the Board received approximately 1.3 million votes, *i.e.*, the votes of more than 75% of the Class B stockholders. The 100,000 shares (6%) obtained by the Estate through the exercise of the Option did not, and could not have made, any difference to the outcome.

⁴⁷ IRA89.

⁴⁸ XXVJA6081–6091.

⁴⁹ XXV6162–6170. RDI had filed or joined similar motions to dismiss for lack of standing upon the service of each iteration of Appellant's complaint. These previous motions were denied by the District Court. *See* XXVJA6167.

⁵⁰ XXV6168–6169.

In addition, given that Appellant was asking that the Board's decisions be rereviewed through this litigation, and RDI's Board would have needed to reevaluate those decisions had Appellant actually made a demand, the Independent Directors requested that the full RDI Board convene a Special Meeting to reconsider both the Termination Decision and the Share Option Decision.⁵¹ The agenda for the proposed meeting was disclosed in advance to all Directors.⁵²

The Board's re-review was also taken with eye to the Directors' fiduciary duty to protect stockholder value. By late 2017, RDI had been forced to incur nearly \$15,000,000.00 in attorney's fees, both in defense of itself and, due to its statutory and contractual indemnity obligations, in defense of Respondents against Appellant's purported "derivative" claims.⁵³ However, only one set of RDI stockholders had ever joined Appellant's action. Various investment funds controlled by Whitney Tilson and Jonathan Glaser (collectively, "the T2 Plaintiffs"), which held a sizeable portion of RDI's stock, relied on Appellant's allegations to intervene via their own derivative complaint on August 28, 2015.⁵⁴

⁵¹ XXVJA6156–6161, 6224A–F. These Directors requested the Special Meeting pursuant to Article II, Section 7 of RDI's Bylaws, which provides: "Upon the written request of a majority of the directors, the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board or the President shall call a special meeting of the Board to be held within two days of the receipt of such request." VIIIJA1809.

⁵² *Id.*

⁵³ See Case No. 77733, RDI's OB4.

⁵⁴ IJA109–126.

But after being provided "extensive discovery," the T2 Plaintiffs voluntarily withdrew all claims on July 12, 2016, with each party executing mutual general releases and agreeing to bear their own fees and expenses.⁵⁵ In the ensuing press release, the T2 Plaintiffs stated outright that they "concluded that the Reading Board of Directors has acted in good faith and has been and remains committed to acting in the interests of all stockholders," and that "[c]ontinuing with their derivative litigation would provide no further benefit."⁵⁶ The T2 Plaintiffs emphasized that, "[o]ur questions about the termination of James Cotter, Jr. and various transactions between Reading and members of the Cotter family—or entities they control—have been definitively addressed and put to rest."⁵⁷ The District Court subsequently approved the T2 settlement as "fair, reasonable, adequate and in the best interests of stockholders."⁵⁸

B. <u>The Remaining Decisions Are Reconsidered and Ratified at a</u> <u>Meeting of the Full RDI Board</u>

As requested, the full RDI Board—including Appellant—met on December 29, 2017.⁵⁹ Counsel for the Company was present, and updated the Board both on the status of this litigation as well as the content of Appellant's

- ⁵⁶ *Id*.
- ⁵⁷ *Id.*
- ⁵⁸ IRA72–73.

⁵⁵ IRA52.

⁵⁹ XXVJA6156–6161, 6224A–F.

allegations as to why Adams was purportedly not "independent" with respect to the at-issue decisions.⁶⁰ Counsel further informed the Board as to the scope of NRS 78.140 ("Restrictions on Transactions Involving Interested Directors or Officers"), as well as the Board's fiduciary duties under Nevada law, including the duties of due care and loyalty.⁶¹ Without conceding the (lack of) independence or disinterestedness of any directors that remained as defendants, the RDI Board then proceeded to consider the actions taken leading up and including Appellant's termination, as well as the Share Option Decision.⁶² Director Adams, as well as Directors Margaret and Ellen Cotter, did not vote on either issue—leaving the ultimate decisions to the remaining directors.⁶³

1. <u>The Ratification of the Termination Decision</u>

Following the introduction by RDI's counsel, Lead Independent Director Gould summarized the first issue for consideration: ratification of the actions taken by the Board members relating to the termination of Appellant as President and CEO of RDI.⁶⁴ All directors were provided copies of the relevant Minutes of the Board Meetings held on May 21, May 29, and June 12, 2015.⁶⁵ In addition to

- ⁶¹ *Id.*
- ⁶² Id.
- 63 *Id*.

⁶⁵ *Id.*

⁶⁰ XXVJA6224C–D.

⁶⁴ XXVJA6224D.

their "thorough" review of the relevant Board materials, Directors Codding and Wrotniak, who were not yet members of the RDI Board at the time of Appellant's termination, stated that they were drawing on their "extensive knowledge about the Board's reasons for the termination of Mr. Cotter, Jr.," including their observations of Appellant's "behavior and demeanor in Board meetings" since each joined over two years earlier, as well as numerous conversations with other Board members regarding "the thinking and rationale for that decision."⁶⁶

Director Codding expressed her view that Appellant "did not possess the knowledge, experience, ability, temperament or demeanor to be chief executive officer of the Company," an opinion with which Mr. Wrotniak concurred.⁶⁷ Discussion then ensued regarding the Board materials, including the fact that, during his tenure, Appellant had secretly retained an outside consultant, Highpoint Associates, to assist him in his CEO duties—a fact that he did not disclose to the Board prior to his termination.⁶⁸

Director McEachern then made a motion, seconded by Ms. Codding, as follows:

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board ratifies the actions taken by the Company's board members relating to the termination of James J. Cotter, Jr. as President and CEO as such actions are outlined in the minutes of the Board meetings held on May 21, 2015, May 29, 2015

⁶⁶ *Id.*; *see also* XXXIIJA7863–7866, 7870–7874.

⁶⁷ *Id.*

⁶⁸ XXVJA6224D–E.

and June 12, 2015.69

After debate and further discussion, including an opportunity by Appellant to make comments, the proposed resolution was adopted by Directors Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern, and Wrotniak, with Appellant casting the sole vote in opposition.⁷⁰ Appellant characterized the ratification as simply being a litigation device, despite the fact that the five ratifying Directors were no longer parties to his litigation and had no personal stake in whether the litigation went forward.⁷¹

2. <u>The Ratification of the Compensation Committee's Share</u> <u>Option Decision</u>

Director Gould then introduced the second issue for consideration: ratification of the September 21, 2015 decision by RDI's Compensation Committee to permit the Estate to use Class A non-voting stock as the means of payment (as opposed to cash) for the exercise of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class B voting stock in RDI.⁷² Counsel for the Company summarized the information regarding the matter considered by the Compensation Committee in 2015, including the fact that acceptance of stock was within the discretion of the

⁷² *Id.*

⁶⁹ XXVJA6224E.

 $^{^{70}}$ *Id.*

⁷¹ *Id*.

Compensation Committee as administrators of the 1999 Stock Option Plan under which the stock option was granted.⁷³

RDI's Board members then generally expressed their awareness of the information as well as their review of the relevant Board materials and Compensation Committee minutes, and opened the floor up for debate, including comment by Appellant.⁷⁴ The independent directors noted, among other things, that the Compensation Committee had discretion under the 1999 Stock Option Plan to allow the use of Class A Shares to exercise options to acquire Class B Stock, that the Company was at the time buying in its Class A Shares under its stock repurchase plan, that the market price of Class A shares had significantly increased since the date of the transaction, and that, from the point of view of the Estate, the same economic results could have been achieved by the sale of Class A shares into the market and using those sale proceeds to exercise the options to acquire Class B Stock.⁷⁵

A motion was made and seconded, as follows:

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board ratifies the decision of the Compensation Committee of the Company, as outlined in the minutes of its September 21, 2015 meeting, to permit the Estate of James J. Cotter, Sr. to use Class A non-voting stock as the means of payment

⁷³ XXVJA6224E–F.

⁷⁴ XXVJA6224E.

⁷⁵ XXVJA6224E–F.

for the exercise of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class B voting stock of the Company.⁷⁶

The proposed resolution was then adopted by Directors Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern, and Wrotniak, with Appellant casting the sole vote in opposition.⁷⁷ Appellant failed to offer any substantive or material objection to the ratification, complaining simply that it was taken for a "litigation purpose."⁷⁸ The Board then moved, without objection, that its resolutions include the "authorization to take such other actions as may be necessary to accomplish the matters approved."⁷⁹

IV. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT GRANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON</u> <u>APPELLANT'S REMAINING CLAIMS BASED ON RATIFICATION</u>

Following the RDI's Board's December 29, 2017 ratifications, Respondents filed a motion for summary judgment as a matter of law in which they argued that, as a result of the recent approval of the Termination Decision and Share Option Decision by a majority of independent, disinterested directors, the business judgment rule now attached to those transactions, which Appellant could not overcome.⁸⁰ The District Court subsequently denied Respondents' motion, as well as RDI's contemporaneous demand futility challenge, "without prejudice" and with potential "leave" to renew because the motions were not timely filed by the

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷⁹ XXVJA6224F.

⁷⁶ XXVJA6224F.

⁷⁸ XXVJA6224E–F.

⁸⁰ XXV6192–6224.

November 9, 2017 deadline for dispositive motions—despite the fact that such motions were contingent upon and not even *possible* until the District Court's December 11, 2017 ruling on director independence.⁸¹

Trial on the Termination Decision and the Share Option Decision with the remaining three Directors (Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams) as defendants was then set to begin on January 8, 2018.82 However, one day before trial, Appellant requested an emergency stay due to an alleged "serious medical condition" he actually discovered six-and-a-half weeks prior.⁸³ The District Court ultimately granted Appellant's requested continuance, although subsequent evidence cast severe doubt on his representations (and indicated, instead, that Appellant's request may have been motivated by the fact that the bulk of his experts were not going to appear at trial due to his repeated nonpayment of their fees, which would have likely triggered a directed verdict in favor of Respondents).⁸⁴ Trial was then rescheduled for July 2018, and the District Court allowed the parties 75 days to conduct discovery on the December 29, 2017 ratifications and any demand futility issues.85

⁸¹ XXV6273–74.

⁸² IRA181.

⁸³ IRA183–188.

⁸⁴ IRA181–194.

⁸⁵ XXV6284, 6290–6291.

Following this discovery, Respondents filed another motion for summary judgment based on ratification on June 1, 2018, while RDI renewed its demand futility challenge.⁸⁶ The District Court held oral argument on these motions, as well as other discovery-related motions, on June 19, 2018.⁸⁷ Due to issues encountered by RDI with respect to its claims of privilege over certain documents and the timeliness of its ratification-related document production, the District Court imposed an evidentiary sanction for the purposes of pretrial motions: "a rebuttable presumption that the docs, if timely produced, would support the plaintiff's position that the ratification was a sham or fraudulent exercise."⁸⁸

However, the District Court determined that, taking "into consideration the inferences, the rebuttable presumption, as well as the evidence that has been submitted," the remaining defendants (Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams) had overcome the rebuttable presumption and thus the ratification of the Termination and Share Option Decisions by a majority of disinterested, independent directors protected those decisions under Nevada's business judgment rule, which Appellant had not adduced sufficient evidence to surmount.⁸⁹

⁸⁶ XXIXJA7173–7221; IRA97–128.

⁸⁷ XXXIVJA8343–8394.

⁸⁸ XXXIV8377.

⁸⁹ XXXIV8389.

On August 14, 2018, the District Court memorialized its ruling in Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and entered judgment in favor of the remaining three Directors.⁹⁰ In its formal decision, the District Court determined that "all of the requirements for the application of NRS 78.140" and ratification under Nevada law were met, including that the "[t]he December 29, 2017 ratification vote was 'in good faith'"; the Directors had "reasonably informed themselves of the relative merits" of the re-reviewed decisions; no Director voting on the at-issue decisions was interested "in the particular transaction ratified"; and the Board had been appropriately advised by "qualified and experienced" corporate counsel (Greenberg Traurig) as to their "fiduciary duties under Nevada law, as well as the history of each decision."⁹¹

Accordingly, the District Court concluded that the challenged transactions were "valid interested director transactions" under NRS 78.140(2), there was a "rational business purpose" for those transactions, and that the Board's decisions were protected by "their good faith business judgment."⁹² Appellant subsequently

⁹⁰ XXXIVJA8401–8425. The District Court denied without prejudice RDI's Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2) or, in the Alternative, NRCP for Lack of Standing (due to Appellant's inability to show demand futility), as it concluded that RDI's motion was mooted by its ruling in favor of Respondents. XXXIV8424.

⁹¹ XXXIV8422–23.

⁹² XXXIV8422.

filed his Notice of Appeal on September 13, 2018.93

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE</u> <u>TERMINATION AND SHARE OPTION DECISIONS COULD BE</u> <u>RATIFIED UNDER NEVADA LAW</u>

A. <u>The Challenged Decisions Fall Within NRS 78.140 and Are</u> <u>Subject to Ratification Under the Statute</u>

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